# FILED 9/20/2017 4:15 PM Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

No. 76091-2-I

No
SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
REBECCA A. RUFIN,
Plaintiff/Petitioner,  v.  CITY OF SEATTLE and JORGE CARRASCO
Defendants/Respondents,
PETITION FOR REVIEW

John P. Sheridan, WSBA #21473 Mark W. Rose, WSBA #41916 THE SHERIDAN LAW FIRM, P.S. Hoge Building, Suite 1200 705 Second Avenue Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 381-5949

Attorneys for Plaintiff/Petitioner

#

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is Rebecca Rufin, the plaintiff/appellant below, who asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Ms. Rufin seeks review of the opinion of the Court of Appeals entered on August 21, 2017 ("the Opinion" or "Op."). A copy of the Opinion is in the Appendix attached hereto at pages A1-A20.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Is an issue of substantial public interest presented when the Court of Appeals holds "[t]he City's failure to retain copies of the e-mails under its retention policy" mandated by RCW 40.14.070(2)(a)<sup>2</sup> "does not provide clear and convincing evidence of misconduct," Op., at A11-A12?

Issue No. 2 Is the Court of Appeals statement that "[t]he April 18, 2012 e-mail does not appear to meet [the] definition ... of [a] nonexecutive communication" set out in the Local Government Common Records

Retention Schedule, because such records "must be made or received in connection with the transaction of *public business*" and the "e-mail did not purport to transact *business with the public*," in conflict with the Supreme

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Rufin has separately filed a petition for review that is currently pending with regard to the opinion issued in *Rufin v. City of Seattle*, 199 Wn. App. 348, 352-53, \_ P.2d \_ (2017) (*Rufin II*), regarding the related Public Records Act case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See CP 644 ("This records retention schedule was approved by the Local Records Committee in accordance with RCW 40.14.070")

laws in *Nissen v. Pierce Cty.*, 183 Wn.2d 863, 357 P.3d 45 (2015)?

<u>Issue No. 3</u> Is the Court of Appeals statement, "It is immaterial whether the misrepresentation was willful or innocent, since the effect is the same," *Peoples State Bank v. Hickey*, 55 Wn. App. 367, 372, 777 P.2d 1056 (1989), inconsistent with the holding in the Opinion that "[t]he April 18, 2012 e-mail does not provide clear and convincing evidence of

misrepresentation by the City," in part because "while Johnson's statement

that she had already provided all responsive e-mails was factually untrue,

Court's use of the phrase "public business" for purposes of public records

Is an issue of substantial public interest presented when the Court of Appeals finds no violation of the discovery rules, despite acknowledging that Defendant's manager "Maehara 'could have and, perhaps should have, realized he had received e[-]mail correspondence relating to Rufin in April 2012, when he received copies of the discovery motion." Op., at A7.

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

she believed it to be true." Op., at A15?

#### 1. Factual Background

This case involves claims of retaliation under RCW 49.60, *et seq*. It concerns Seattle City Light's repeated failure to rehire Rebecca Rufin for a vacant Civil Mechanical Engineer Manager (CMEM) job, in a chain

of command leading to Defendant Superintendent Jorge Carrasco, years after Rufin was a witness in an investigation and lawsuit alleging discrimination by Carrasco. *See* Op., at A1, *citing Rufin v. City of Seattle*, No. 72012-1-1, slip op. at 2 (Wash Ct. App. Aug. 17, 2015) (unpublished), https://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/pdf/720121.pdf (*Rufin I*).

Rufin claims that when she sought an explanation for the failure to rehire her, Carrasco's H.R. Officer, DaVonna Johnson, told her she had "burned her bridges" and would never be considered for any future management positions at the utility. CP 447-48. At trial, "Johnson says [that] didn't happen." CP 832.

Johnson also testified at trial that she "never spoke to Mr. Haynes [the CMEM hiring manager] about Ms. Rufin's candidacy for this position," nor any other matter regarding Rufin; and testified she "had no information about the hiring process" and "was not aware of Ms.

Rufin's candidacy for the job at all," until Rufin contacted Carrasco about her non-selection in June 2012. CP 563-64. Johnson further testified that the hiring process for the CMEM job was one of "three or four hundred" hiring processes conducted each year in which "I [Johnson] don't have a role," claiming she oversaw H.R.'s Talent Acquisition unit only from a "policy level." CP 558. In closing, the City argued Rufin's allegations of retaliation were "simply not credible"; stating that there was

"no evidence" that Johnson "had anything to do with" Rufin being rejected when she reapplied for the CMEM job; that "[t]his is something that occurred ... three levels down below Ms. Johnson"; and that there is "not one shred of paper that supports this vast conspiracy." *See* CP 811-12, 818-19. The jury returned a defense verdict. Op., at A4.

Following the retaliation trial, Rufin filed suit under the Public Records Act due to the City's "delayed disclosure of comparator hiring files." CP 1098, ¶ 12. In discovery in the PRA case, Rufin learned that the City failed to produce what she refers to as "smoking gun" evidence contradicting Johnson and other witnesses' testimony that Johnson had no information about the CMEM hiring process or Rufin's candidacy and allegedly had no contact with Hiring Manager Haynes about Rufin. CP 1097-98; Op., at A4-A5; compare CP 96 (smoking gun email that Johnson received in April 2012, notifying her Rufin had written to the hiring manager, Haynes, "Is there any point in applying for this [CMEM] posting]? I still don't understand how I failed to measure up with the last lengthy process") with CP 563-64, 558 (Johnson's trial testimony). "[I]t is undisputed that the City failed to produce the April 18, 2012 email" in the retaliation case, "even though it was responsive both to Rufin's discovery requests and the trial court's discovery order." Op., at A8.

Before the discovery order was entered in the retaliation case,

Johnson filed a sworn declaration opposing Rufin's motion to compel, in
which Johnson testified, "Any of my email communications that are not
privileged and relate to Ms. Rufin's recent attempts to be rehired by

Seattle City Light, in 2011 and 2012, have already been provided to Ms.

Rufin...." CP 264, ¶ 10. "Johnson's statement that she had already
provided all responsive e-mails was factually untrue." Op., at A15.

## 2. Procedural Background

Based on the smoking gun email, Rufin filed a CR 60(b)(4) motion to vacate the judgment and motion for default judgment or to reset the trial date as a discovery sanction in the WLAD retaliation case. Op., at A4-A5; CP 1. The trial court issued an order (a copy of which is attached as part of the Appendix, A21-A30), denying the motion and finding, "Rufin did not prove by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence that the City committed fraud, misrepresentation, or misconduct in the retaliation lawsuit," and that the City "did not willfully or deliberately violate the discovery rules or the court's discovery order." Op., at A5; *accord* Order, at A27-A29.

The trial court's order did not discuss or evaluate Johnson's prior testimony that Rufin had argued was directly contradicted by the "smoking gun." *See* A27-A29. The order also failed to discuss the CR

26(g) standard that Rufin argued provided a basis for relief,<sup>3</sup> and made no findings as to whether the City conducted a "reasonable inquiry," although the trial court did find that the City "conducted a reasonable search … and had no reason to search Maehara's archived emails [where the smoking gun was ultimately found] until Rufin filed a public records act lawsuit in 2015." *See* A27. On appeal, Rufin argued this finding was "not supported by the evidence, as the City failed to search Maehara's records knowing that he was involved in the rejection of Rufin's application." Appellant's Br., at 3, citing CP 996. The trial court in denying the motion wrote:

While Maehara could have and, perhaps should have, realized he had received email correspondence relating to Rufin in April 2012, ... his failure to remember<sup>4</sup> does not prove fraud or intentional withholding of evidence by the City. ... The City's failure to realize that Maehara's email archives should have been included in the City's search is not misconduct under CR 60(b)(4).

CP 1354 (emphasis added).

Rufin also requested relief based on the destruction of evidence.

Op., at A10. She presented evidence showing that Johnson and Haynes knew how to "archive" emails and in fact archived tens of thousands of emails each, but that they allowed their copies of the email from the hiring manager (Haynes) to City Light's top H.R. Officer (Johnson) and to Carrasco's Legal Affairs advisor (Maehara) about Rufin contacting the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See CP 29-30; RP 52-53; CP 1342.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The record contains no testimony or declaration by Maehara, and thus no basis for the trial court to find Maehara "failed to remember" receiving the email. *See* CP 1357-58.

hiring manager regarding her applications and prior non-selection, to be destroyed. *See* CP 668 (¶ 6); CP 652-54, 658-59. Rufin argued that this communication should have been retained by them for a minimum of two years under the Local Government Common Records Retention Schedule ("CORE"), GS2010-001, Rev. 2. CP 25-26, citing CP 646. The trial court made no ruling on whether a violation of the Records Retention Act's duty to preserve public records may result in sanctionable spoliation or whether the Act was violated in this case, but found that the "negligent failure of Haynes or Johnson to preserve potentially relevant evidence in foreseeable litigation is not sanctionable spoliation." CP 1354.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's order. On the records retention issue, it held that the smoking gun email did not come within the category of "non-executive communications" Rufin cited, as such records "must be made or received in connection with the transaction of <u>public business</u>," and the smoking gun "e-mail did not purport to transact business <u>with the public</u>." Op., at A11-A12 (emphasis added). The Opinion also stated, "The City's failure to retain copies of the e-mails under its retention policy does not provide clear and convincing evidence of misconduct."

The Court of Appeals also affirmed the trial court's finding that the City's search for responsive records was reasonable, noting "multiple City"

employees testified that they had no reason to look for responsive documents in Maehara's accounts" and that the paralegal who conducted the searches testified he did so "in good faith." *See* Op., at A9-A10. While the Opinion acknowledged the trial court's finding that Maehara "could have and, perhaps should have, realized he had received e[-]mail correspondence relating to Rufin in April 2012, when he received copies of the discovery motion," Op., at A7, and recognized that in June 2012 he "approved the letter" informing Rufin that City Light would not be considering her application, *id.*, at A3, the Opinion otherwise made no discussion of the evidence showing Maehara was tracking the course of Rufin's retaliation litigation, on did it attempt to explain, given such facts, what reasonable excuse existed for Maehara's apparent failure to inform City Light's litigation team of the need to search his email account for responsive records. *See Op.*, *generally*.

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. An Issue of Substantial Public Interest Is Presented by the Court of Appeals Stating that Failure to Retain Records Under the Retention Policy Mandated by Law Does Not Provide Clear and Convincing Evidence of Misconduct

The enforcement of laws protecting and preserving public records is a fundamental and urgent issue of broad public import. "The purpose of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See, e.g., CP 123-242 (Aug. 2012 receipt of tort claim); CP 250, 253 (Jan. 2013 receipt of Rufin's civil complaint and discovery); CP 255; CP 260 (May 2013 receipt of motion to compel); CP 267 (June 2013 receipt of City discovery answers); CP 300 (July 2013 receipt of City's summary judgment motion).

the [PRA] is 'nothing less than the preservation of the most central tenets of representative government, namely, the sovereignty of the people and the accountability to the people of public officials and institutions."

Wade's Eastside Gun Shop, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 185 Wn.2d 270, 277, 372 P.3d 97 (2016). The PRA requires agencies to "adopt and enforce reasonable rules and regulations ... consonant with the intent of this chapter to provide full public access to public records, [and] to protect public records from damage or disorganization." RCW 42.56.100

("Protection of public records – public access"). The Records Retention Act, RCW 40.14.070(2)(a), similarly provides that "no public records shall be destroyed until approved for destruction by the local records committee," which promulgates the Local Government Common Records Retention Schedule ("CORE"). Id.; see CP 644.

It is well known that the "[i]mposition of unduly light sanctions [for discovery violations] will only encourage litigants to employ tactics of evasion ... in contravention of the spirit and letter of the discovery rules." The Opinion here presents a matter of substantial public interest, as it does not impose light sanctions on the government for unlawfully destroying records, but even worse, in one of the few opinions to apply RCW 40.14.070, it states "[t]he City's failure to retain copies of the e-mails

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Taylor v. Cessna Aircraft Co., Inc., 39 Wn. App. 828, 836, 696 P.2d 28 (1985).

under [the] retention policy" mandated by law "does not provide clear and convincing evidence of misconduct." Op., at A11-A12; footnote 2, *supra*.

As the comment in the Washington State Bar Association's *Public* Records Act Deskbook notes, "[u]nless courts can punish agencies for failure to comply with records retention laws, agencies could easily circumvent the PRA by improperly destroying records, thus rendering the disclosure statute useless." Wash. State Bar Ass'n, Public Records Act Deskbook: Washington's Public Disclosure and Open Public Meetings Laws § 19.3(1) (2d ed. 2014) (stating the "court in [Bldg. Indus. Ass'n of Wash. v. Mccarthy, 152 Wn.App. 720, 741, 218 P.2d 196 (2009)] found 'the logic of this argument is compelling,' albeit in dicta in a case involving no unlawful destruction"). Decisions of the Court of Appeals have so far been uniform in their reluctance to provide any teeth to the preservation duties established by the Records Retention Act. See BIAW, 152 Wn. App. at 741-42; see also West v. Wash. State Dep't of Nat. Res., 163 Wn. App. 235, 245, 258 P.3d 78 (2011) (rejecting argument that "unless courts apply [RCW 40.14], agencies will circumvent the PRA and improperly destroy records"); and Daines v. Spokane Cty., 111 Wn. App. 342, 350, 44 P.3d 909 (2002) (holding "Daines has no right under chapter 40.14 RCW that a declaratory judgment would secure."), overruled on other grounds by Neighborhood All. of Spokane Cty. v. Cty. of Spokane,

172 Wn.2d 702, 261 P.3d 119 (2011). Unless it is corrected, the Opinion in this case, stating that the "failure to retain copies of the e-mails under [the] retention policy" mandated by law "does not provide clear and convincing evidence of misconduct," Op., at A11-A12, will only provide governmental actors further encouragement to disregard their duty to abide by the retention schedules that the local records committee approve. *See BIAW*, 152 Wn. App. at 741-42; *Taylor*, 39 Wn. App. at 836.

For such reason, this Court should grant review and make clear that violation of the Records Retention Act is misconduct that can result in findings of sanctionable spoliation, otherwise governmental employees will continue to destroy records with impunity, as happened here.

2. The Opinion's Interpretation of the Term "Public Business" Conflicts with *Nissen's* Use of the Term "Public Business" in the Context of Public Records Law

In declining to find that the definition of "non-executive communications" found in GS2010-001, Rev. 2 (*see* CP 646) applies to the smoking gun, the Court of Appeals equated records "made or received in connection with the transaction of <u>public business</u>" with records that "purport to transact <u>business</u> with the <u>public</u>." *See* Op., at A11-A12. Such interpretation of the term "public business" by the Court of Appeals is significantly narrower than the interpretation of the term previously applied by this Court and the legislature in the context of public records

law. Ordinarily the term has been synonymous with "agency business," as opposed to "personal" or "private" business.

For example, in defining the phrase "public record" for purposes of the Records Retention Act, the legislature wrote in relevant part:

As used in this chapter, the term 'public records' shall include any paper, correspondence, ... or other document, regardless of physical form or characteristics, and including such copies thereof, that have been made by or received by any agency of the state of Washington in connection with the transaction of public business....

#### RCW 40.14.010.

In *Nissen v. Pierce Cty.*, 183 Wn.2d 863, 357 P.3d 45 (2015), a case in which the Court "consider[ed] if the PRA ... applies when a public employee uses a private cell phone to conduct government business," the term "public business" was used four times by the Court, which freely interchanged the phrase with several synonymous terms (i.e., "agency business," "government business," "city business," and "county business"). *See generally, id.* (e.g., "I. THE PRA REACHES EMPLOYEE—OWNED CELL PHONES WHEN USED FOR **AGENCY BUSINESS** .... [W]e must interpret the statutory definitions to decide if records of **public business** an employee conducts on his or her private cell phone are public records."). It would eviscerate the scope of the Records Retention Act if the Court of Appeals' narrow interpretation of the phrase—requiring an actual "transact[ion] [of] business with the public"—

was left unchecked to narrowly define the scope of public records protected by the Records Retention Act. *See* RCW 40.14.010 (defining covered records as "documents ...made by or received by any agency of the state of Washington in connection with the transaction of public business"). The Court should grant review to hold that its broad interpretation of the phrase "public business" in *Nissen* controls and to mandate a much broader protection of public records than the Opinion demands.

# 3. The Holding That Johnson's Untrue Statement She Believed Was Not a Misrepresentation Conflicts With Prior Precedent

In *Peoples State Bank v. Hickey*, 55 Wn. App. 367, 372, 777 P.2d 1056 (1989), the Court of Appeals stated that "It is immaterial whether [a] misrepresentation was willful or innocent, since the effect is the same." *Id.* The Court of Appeals restates this precedent in its Opinion, at A6, but fails to follow it. Specifically, the Opinion states, "[W]hile Johnson's statement that she had already provided all responsive e-mails was factually untrue, *she believed it to be true*." Op., at A15.8 The clear

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The trial court, for its part, declined to evaluate any of Johnson's prior testimony that Rufin argued was directly contradicted by the "smoking gun." *See* A27-A29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The Court of Appeals also went to great pains in an effort to portray Johnson's other statements as not contradicted by the smoking gun, writing for example that the email between Johnson and Haynes was not evidence that she "spoke" with Haynes regarding Rufin. *See Op.*, at A14-A15. The fact remains that Johnson's claims that she had "**no information**" about the hiring process and "was **not aware of Ms. Rufin's candidacy for the job at all**," until Rufin contacted Carrasco about her non-selection in June 2012, is flatly contradicted by the smoking gun. *Compare* CP 96 with CP 563-64, 558.

implication is that Johnson's misrepresentation was innocently made; however, under *Peoples State Bank* that fact is "immaterial... since the effect is the same." 55 Wn. App. at 372. Nevertheless, without further explanation, the Opinion concludes that Rufin failed to present "clear and convincing evidence of misrepresentation by the City." Given the Opinion's admission that Johnson's statement was untrue, this holding cannot be squared with the standard for proving misrepresentation set forth in *Peoples State Bank*. The Court should grant review to resolve the conflict between *Peoples State Bank* and the standard applied in the Opinion.

4. An Issue of Substantial Public Interest Is Presented by the Court of Appeals Finding No Violation of the Discovery Rules In Spite of the Finding That Maehara "Should Have Realized" He Had Email Responsive to Plaintiff's Motion to Compel

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