FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/20/2017 4:46 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 95002-4 Court of Appeals Cause No. 76091-2-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

REBECCA A. RUFIN,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

CITY OF SEATTLE and JORGE CARRASCO,

Defendants/Respondents.

RESPONDENTS CITY OF SEATTLE AND JORGE CARRASCO'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

David N. Bruce, WSBA No. 15237 Duffy Graham, WSBA No. 33103 SAVITT BRUCE & WILLEY LLP 1425 Fourth Avenue Suite 800 Seattle, WA 98101-2272 (206) 749-0500

Molly Daily, WSBA No. 28360 **Peter S. Holmes Seattle City Attorney** 600 Fourth Avenue, 4th Floor Seattle, Washington 98124 (206) 684-8200

Attorneys for Respondents

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

IV. ARGUMENT

Contrary to Petitioner's arguments, there is no decisional conflict, and there is no issue of substantial public interest raised by the Court of Appeals' application of settled Washington law in an unpublished decision. Consequently, the petition should be denied. RAP 13.4(b).

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined that Petitioner Did Not Establish Misconduct.

Petitioner's Issue No. 1 rests on a contorted reading of this sentence from the Court of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion:

The City's failure to retain copies of the e-mails under its retention policy does not provide clear and convincing evidence of misconduct.

Op. at 12. Petitioner asserts that by way of this sentence the Court of Appeals held (1) that the City destroyed documents in violation of Washington law and (2) that such wrongful destruction of documents is not clear and convincing evidence of misconduct. See Petn. at 9-11. That assertion is incorrect on both points. The Court of Appeals actually rejected Petitioner's argument that the email copies should have been retained and held that Petitioner failed to provide clear and convincing evidence of misconduct. Op. at 11-12.

The City's document retention policy follows Washington law. As noted by the Court of Appeals, Op. at 11, the City adheres to retention schedules for different categories of records pursuant to the Local Government Common Records Retention Schedule ("CORE") in accordance with the Retention Act, RCW 40.14.070.¹

To put Petitioner's Issue No. 1 in full context: The relevant portion of the Court of Appeals decision begins on page 10 (¶ "Rufin also asserts...") and concludes at the end of page 12 ("...the April 18, 2012 e-mail."). The passage begins with the Court of Appeals' summary of one of Rufin's arguments on appeal—that "the City committed misconduct by destroying the copies of the April 18, 2012 e-mail that resided in Haynes's and Johnson's e-mail accounts" and that "the destruction of this evidence constituted misconduct." Op. at 10. The Court of Appeals next briefly reviews Washington spoliation law, noting that there can be no spoliation absent a duty to preserve the evidence in question. Op. at 10-11. The Court of Appeals then notes Rufin's allegation that the City has a statutory duty under the Retention Act, RCW 40.14.070(2)(a), to preserve the April 18, 2012 email in Haynes's and Johnson's possession. To assess that claim, the Court of Appeals analyzes Petitioner's allegation that the April

.

¹ See https://www.sos.wa.gov/archives/recordsretentionschedules.aspx; see especially id. at p.1.

18 email fits within two categories set forth in the Local Government
Common Records Retention Schedule. It concludes that the April 18
email fits within neither. Op. at 11. The Court of Appeals concludes with
its rejection of Rufin's spoliation claim:

Rufin cites no case law interpreting RCW 40.14.070(2)(a) or these retention schedules in the context of a spoliation claim. We cannot conclude that the trial court abused its discretion in concluding no sanctionable spoliation occurred here. The City's failure to retain copies of the e-mails under its retention policy does not provide clear and convincing evidence of misconduct.

Op. at 12.

In the entire 3-page passage leading up to this conclusion, there is nothing to suggest that the Court of Appeals determined that the City failed to retain records that it was required to retain. Rather, the Court of Appeals examined Petitioner's allegation—that the email copies should have been preserved on grounds that the email fit two categories requiring retention for 2 and 3 years respectively—and rejected it. The Court of Appeals found that the email copies did not qualify as a non-executive communication or as a recruitment file under CORE. Op. at 11-12. The Court of Appeals held that the Petitioner did not provide clear and convincing evidence of misconduct and that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that no sanctionable spoliation occurred. Op. at 12.

In sum, Petitioner's argument misrepresents the Court of Appeals' decision. It does not present an issue of substantial public interest.

B. There Is No Conflict with the *Nissen* Decision.

Petitioner incorrectly argues that the Court of Appeals' "interpretation of the term 'public business'" is in conflict with *Nissen v*.

Pierce County, 183 Wn.2d 863, 357 P.3d 45 (2015). There is no conflict.

Nissen is a Public Records Act case—it does not concern or address the issue the Court of Appeals analyzed here under the Retention Act and the local government retention schedules promulgated thereunder ("CORE"). Further, contrary to Petitioner's suggestion, Nissen does not "interpret" or define the term "public business."

Petitioner asks this Court to conflate the Retention Act and CORE with the PRA. The purpose of the PRA, RCW 42.56, is to provide broad "public access to information about every aspect of state and local government." *Nissen*, 183 Wn.2d at 874. The Retention Act, RCW 40.14, is a government document housekeeping statute, providing guidelines for the management of state records, including as to which government documents must be retained and for how long, and which are not required to be maintained. *See*, *e.g.*, RCW 40.14.020, -040, -060, -070, -130. Unlike the PRA, the Retention Act does not provide a private right of action. *See* RCW 40.14.

The issue that the Court of Appeals addressed in discussing "public business" is whether the City had a statutory duty—under the Retention Act and CORE, not under the PRA—to preserve the April 18, 2012 email. See Op. 11-12. Rufin argued that the April 18 email fit under two categories provided in CORE: "non-executive communications" or "recruitment files." Op. at 11.² Quoting the description in CORE, the Court of Appeals stated that "'non-executive communications' applies to 'internal and external communications to or from employees (includes contractors and volunteers) that are made or received in connection with the transaction of public business." Op. at 11-12 [quoting CORE DAN GS2010-001 Rev. 2]; see CP 646. The Court of Appeals then determined that the April 18 email did not fit the definition of non-executive communications, explaining:

A non-executive communication must be 'made or received in connection with the transaction of public business.' But, the April 18, 2012 e-mail did not purport to transact business with the public. It was a forwarded e-mail from Haynes to Johnson, Maehara, and Kern.

Op. at 12. The Court of Appeals also stated that the email "did not provide or solicit advice regarding Rufin's concerns," referring again to

_

² The City submits, as it did in its Response Brief below at 24 n.8, that the email the email is more accurately described as a "transitory record" under the CORE schedule, which are retained only "until no longer needed for agency business." See CP 1056 (DAN GS50-02-05, Rev. 1). The so-called smoking gun, which in substance says only "I have not replied," seems a perfect example of a transitory record that can be deleted when no longer needed.

the CORE definition of non-executive communications, which includes "requests for and provision of information/advice." Op. at 12; see CP 646 [CORE DAN GS2010-001 Rev. 2]. The Court of Appeals also found that the email did not fit the other CORE category proposed by Petitioner – "recruitment files." It concluded that the trial court had not abused its discretion in finding that no sanctionable spoliation occurred. Op. at 12.

Petitioner argues that the Court of Appeals' "interpretation" of "transaction of public business" to mean "transact[ing] business with the public" (Op. at 12) is too narrow and that "public business" in the CORE definition of "non-executive communication" must mean "agency business." In support, Petitioner seeks to rely on (1) the definition of "public record" in the Retention Act and (2) the Supreme Court's use of the term "public record" in *Nissen*, a PRA case. But neither the Retention Act nor *Nissen* provides support for Petitioner's argument.

1. The Retention Act supports the Court of Appeals' application of the CORE definition.

Petitioner's reliance on the Retention Act definition of "public records" is misplaced: The definition of "non-executive communication" in CORE is in relevant part and for all practical purposes a verbatim restatement of the Retention Act definition of "public record."

Specifically, CORE defines "Communications – Non-executive" in

relevant part as "Internal and external communications to or from employees (includes contractors and volunteers), that are made or received in connection with the transaction of public business[.]" See CP 646 [DAN GS2010-001 Rev. 2]. The Retention Act likewise defines "public record" in relevant part to include "any... correspondence...that [has] been made by or received by any agency of the state of Washington in connection with the transaction of public business[.]" RCW 40.14.010.

Petitioner's proposed interpretation of the term "public business" as used in CORE and the Retention Act is so expansive that it would effectively delete the phrase "public business" from those definitions. It would make any email generated by a government employee, no matter to whom or whether it concerns "the transaction of public business," a public record for purposes of the Retention Act and CORE. That result would be contrary to Washington law. A Washington court "must construe statutes such that all of the language is given effect." *Lake v. Woodcreek Homeowners Ass'n*, 169 Wn.2d 516, 526, 243 P.3d 1283 (2010).

2. Nissen does not define "public business" and does not address the Retention Act.

Petitioner's reliance on *Nissen* is also misplaced. *Nissen* concerned application of the Washington Public Records Act, RCW 42.56,

and held that the PRA applies to the content of a public employee's private cell phone when used to conduct government business.

Petitioner argues that the Supreme Court "used" the term "public business" four times in *Nissen* and used it interchangeably with other terms such as "agency business," such that "public business" means "agency business." Petn. at 12. Petitioner seeks to import "the broad interpretation of the phrase 'public business' in *Nissen*" (Petn. at 13) into the Retention Act and the CORE definition of non-executive communications.

But *Nissen* does not define or "interpret" the term "public business." Moreover, *Nissen* does not address or concern the Retention Act or CORE. *See* 183 Wn.2d at 872-87 (applying PRA)

Petitioner fails to acknowledge a critical point—that the PRA definition of "public record," RCW 42.56.010(3), is different from the definition of "public record" under the Retention Act.³ The PRA definition includes no "public business" limitation, whereas the Retention Act definition includes an express reference to "the transaction of public business." Compare RCW 42.56.010(3) (PRA definition of "public record") with RCW 40.14.010 (Retention Act definition of "public")

11

³ The PRA defines "public record" as, in relevant part, "any writing containing information relating to the conduct of government or the performance of any governmental or proprietary function prepared, owned, used, or retained by any state or local agency regardless of physical form or characteristics." RCW 42.56.010(3).

records") (emphasis added). "[W]hen the legislature uses different words, appellate courts deem the legislature to have intended different meanings." *State v. Castillo-Murcia*, 188 Wn. App. 539, 546, 354 P.3d 932 (2015) (internal quotation omitted).

In light of the different definitions of "public record" under the PRA and the Retention Act, the Courts of Appeals statement that the April 18 email does not fit the CORE definition of "non-executive communication" does not conflict with *Nissen*. Moreover, the Retention Act and CORE definitions' express references to "transaction of public business" make the Court of Appeals' statement that a non-executive communication must be made in connection with the transaction of public business wholly consistent with the Retention Act and CORE itself.

Finally, even if the Court of Appeals' "interpretation" of "public business" were somehow in conflict with *Nissen*—and it is not—it would be of no moment. The Court of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion has no precedential value. GR 14.1(a). And it does not diminish the Supreme Court's well-established, deliberate, broad construction of the PRA as a tool for public access to information about every aspect of government. *See Nissen*, 183 Wn.2d at 874. The Court of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion does not present any issue under the PRA.

C. The Court of Appeals Applied the Correct Standard for Relief under CR 60(b)(4).

Petitioner asserts that *Peoples State Bank*, 55 Wn. App. 367, 777 P.2d 1056 (1989), set a standard "for proving misrepresentation" and that the Court of Appeals failed to follow that standard. Petitioner is incorrect.

In *Peoples State Bank*, the Court of Appeals adopted federal authorities in applying the standard for relief under CR 60(b)(4):

Courts interpreting the federal rule state that one who asserts that an adverse party has obtained a verdict through fraud, misrepresentation or other misconduct has the burden of proving the assertion by clear and convincing evidence. The rule is aimed at judgments which were unfairly obtained, not at those which are factually incorrect. For this reason, the conduct must be such that the losing party was prevented from fully and fairly presenting its case or defense.

Id. at 372 (citations omitted). Applying that standard for relief under CR 60(b)(4), *Peoples State Bank* affirmed a default judgment.

Here, the Court of Appeals applied the correct standard for relief under CR 60(b)(4), citing *Peoples State Bank*. It stated:

The party asserting that a judgment has been obtained through fraud, misrepresentation, or other misconduct has the burden of proving the assertion by clear and convincing evidence. *Peoples State Bank v. Hickey*, 55 Wn. App. 367, 372, 777 P.2d 1056 (1989). It is immaterial whether the misrepresentation was willful or innocent, since the effect is the same. *Id.* at 371. The party requesting relief must show that the misconduct prevented a full and fair presentation of its case. *Dalton v. State*, 130 Wn. App. 653, 665, 124 P.3d 305 (2005).

Op. at 6.

The Court of Appeals carefully reviewed Petitioner's arguments that the April 18 email contradicted four facts elicited at the discrimination trial. Op. at 14. Among these was the fact that in a declaration in response to Rufin's motion to compel, Johnson stated that all of her responsive emails had already been provided to Rufin. *Id.* Addressing this particular issue, the Court of Appeals noted that Johnson was presented with the April 18 email in a deposition in October 2015 and testified that she did not remember receiving it or discussing it with Haynes. Op. at 15. The Court of Appeals then stated that "while Johnson's statement that she had already provided all responsive emails was factually untrue, she believed it to be true." Op. at 14. The Court of Appeals then concluded that "[t]he April 18, 2012 email does not provide clear and convincing evidence of misrepresentation by the City. We hold that the trial court did not err in finding that the City did not commit misconduct or misrepresentation as is necessary to vacate a judgment under CR 60(b)(4)." Op. at 15.

Contrary to Petitioner's assertion, the Court of Appeals manifestly applied the correct standard—the very standard set forth in *Peoples State Bank*. See Op. at 6, 15; *Peoples State Bank*, 55 Wn. App. at 372. The

Court of Appeals found that Petitioner had not established by clear and convincing evidence that the judgment was unfairly obtained. Rufin now asks, in her Petition, that this Court consider Johnson's statement that she had already provided all responsive emails in isolation, but the Court of Appeals appropriately considered it in the context of all of Petitioner's arguments regarding the April 18 email and concluded that Rufin had not met the standard for relief under CR 60(b)(4). See Op. at 13-15. There is no conflict between the Court of Appeals Unpublished Opinion and *Peoples State Bank* regarding the standard for relief under CR 60(b)(4).

D. The Finding that No Discovery Violation Occurred Does Not Present an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

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